IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1159

MICHAEL MORDENTI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-North Florida Bar No. 0754773

HEIDI BREWER Assistant CCRC-North Florida Bar No. 0046965

1533 South Monroe St. Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Mordenti is under a sentence of death. Herein, Mr. Mordenti appeals the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.850 relief following an evidentiary hearing.

The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record in ths cause, with appropriate page number(s) following the abbreviation:

"R″	- Record on direct appeal to this Court;
"PC-R"	- Post conviction record on appeal
"PC-T″	- Evidentiary hearing transcript
"D-Ex"	- Defense exhibits entered at the evidentiary hearing and made part of the post conviction record on appeal.
"S-Ex″	- State exhibits entered at the evidentiary hearing

All other citations will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained.

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Mordenti, through counsel, respectfully requests that the Court permit oral argument.

i

#### INTRODUCTION

At the heart of Mr. Mordenti's appeal is his claim of innocence. Michael Mordenti and his attorneys maintain that he did not commit the June 7, 1989, murder of Thelma Royston nor participate in the murder in any way.

This Court acknowledged on direct appeal that "[n]o physical evidence was produced linking Mordenti to the crime, and Gail Mordenti [Milligan] was the only witness who was able to place him at the scene of the murder." <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080, 1083 (Fla. 1994). The State's case rested entirely upon the credibility of Gail Mordenti Milligan, who testified that "as long as I told the truth, that I had total immunity." (R. 661).<sup>1</sup> Gail elaborated in cross-examination at

Q And as you sit here today, isn't it the fact that the jury just believed Gail Mordenti and didn't believe the alibi witnesses presented?

A Apparently.

(PC-T. 959-60).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In 2001, John Atti, Mr. Mordenti's lead trial attorney testified that he "considered [Gail] to be the key witness." (PC-T. 525). He explained that "impeaching her was the entire case." (<u>Id</u>.). Karen Cox, the lead prosecutor, testified that Gail's credibility "was a very important issue, yes, it was." (PC-T. 714). Richard Watts, Mr. Atti's co-counsel, described Gail as "the most important witness." (PC-T. 902). In fact at the 2001 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Mordenti's conviction was summarized in the following fashion by ASA Vollrath and Mr. Watts:

Q Uh-huh. Isn't that kind of a decision of a question of fact, credibility factor, judging by the jury - - isn't that a determination of fact?

A Yes.

trial that "as long as I told the truth, the whole truth, that I had immunity" (R. 703). The jury was told that Gail had been given total immunity to identify the person that she hired to commit the murder.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Mordenti maintains that Gail's testimony was false and that the immunity deal was misrepresented to produce a vouching effect. The jury was led to believe that any falsehood exposed Gail to criminal liability that she did not otherwise face; surely the State would pounce on untruthful testimony to prosecute her. Yet, her testimony was, as has been established and conceded, rife with false information.<sup>3</sup> In the post-conviction proceedings below, Gail admitted when showed her undisclosed daily calendar that her trial testimony was "wrong" regarding her timeline of the events (PC-T. 1097).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>3</sup>Mr. Mordenti maintains that Gail identified the wrong man in order to protect the real killer. In fact, Mr. Mordenti was "not a suspect in the homicide until March 8, 1990, when Gail mentioned him as the person who had committed the murder" (PC-T. 790).

<sup>4</sup>This is in reference to her trial testimony that her discussions with Larry Royston about murdering his wife began at the end of February or early March. Her undisclosed date book that had been in the State's possession at the time of trial revealed that the luncheon at which she and Larry first discussed the murder occurred on April 11, 1989 (PC-T. 1005-06, 1096-97). This revelation in post-conviction proceedings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Certainly, the jury was led to believe that Gail was given total immunity for truthful testimony. On direct appeal, this Court too believed that "complete immunity" had been provided. <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080, 1083 (Fla. 1994). However at the 2001 hearing, it was revealed that Gail merely received the standard use immunity that attaches to sworn testimony that is given pursuant to a state attorney subpoena (PC-T. 253).

Absolutely no physical evidence connected Mr. Mordenti to the murder of Thelma Royston. The State's case at trial was entirely dependent upon the credibility of Gail Mordenti Milligan. However, the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing demonstrated that Mr. Mordenti's jury did not have all of the information because Gail's testimony was not truthful. When the legal claims that Mr. Mordenti advances are fully analyzed, it is clear that not only did he not receive a constitutionally adequate adversarial testing, but also that his conviction and death sentence represent a manifest miscarriage of justice and cannot be allowed to stand.<sup>5</sup>

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. Procedural History.

Mr. Mordenti was indicted by a grand jury in Hillsborough County, Florida, on March 14, 1990 (R. 1591-1593). He was charged with the first-degree murder of Thelma Royston and with conspiracy to commit murder.<sup>6</sup> The basis of the charge was Gail Mordenti Milligan's March 8, 1990, immunized

<sup>6</sup>Thelma Royston was murdered on June 7, 1989.

established that Gail's finely woven time line was completely and totally wrong. All the planning occurred after Michael Milligan, her boyfriend and future husband, had moved in with her in direct contravention of her trial testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The lead attorney for Mr. Mordenti at his 1991 trial was John Atti who surrendered his Florida Bar license in 1993 (PC-T. 501). The lead prosecutor at Mr. Mordenti's trial was Karen Cox who at the time of the evidentiary hearing was under suspension from the Florida Bar (PC-T. 5). <u>Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Cox</u>, 794 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2001).

statement that she, on behalf of the victim's husband, hired Mr. Mordenti to commit the murder.<sup>7</sup>

Larry Royston, the victim's husband, was also charged and indicted. Mr. Royston was represented by John Trevena (PC-T. 316). On March 18, 1991, on the eve of his trial, Mr. Royston committed suicide (PC-T. 317). Thereupon, the assigned prosecutors, Karen and Nick Cox, without notice to Mr. Mordenti or his counsel obtained a court order directing Mr. Trevena to reveal to the State "information that Mr. Royston had provided [Mr. Trevena] during the course of the representation" (PC-T. 328). The prosecutors did not share Mr. Trevena's statement with Mr. Mordenti nor with his counsel (PC-T. 534).<sup>8</sup>

<sup>8</sup>The State did not specifically use the information that it obtained because the information did not implicate Mr. Mordenti. Mr. Trevena testified that he told the State that Larry Royston's position was "that Gail Mordenti had orchestrated [the murder]." (PC-T. 330). He advised the State that "Mr. Royston had indicated to [Mr. Trevena] that [Royston] did have a sexual affair with Gail Mordenti, and that she wanted to continue that affair" (PC-T. 330). He advised the State that Gail "wanted Mr. Royston freed up so that she could share, I believe, in his assets" (PC-T. 331). Mr. Trevena advised the State that Royston maintained that the cell phone call on June 7, 1989, to Mordenti and Associates was "innocent in nature and that it was relating to some type of a boat or motor vehicle" (PC-T. 332). "There was no discussion concerning any homicide or violence, that it was related to business and that the call had been set up by Gail" (PC-T. 336). Mr. Trevena indicated that there had been discussions with the State prior to Royston's death in the nature of plea negotiations. However as Mr. Trevena explained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>On April 20, 1990, Gail married Michael Milligan, an individual who matches the description of one of two men seen near the victim's barn about the time of the murder (PC-T. 797, 1088, 1102).

Mr. Mordenti's trial commenced July 8, 1991. At his trial, Mr. Mordenti was represented by John Atti and Richard Watts.<sup>9</sup> The jury found Mr. Mordenti guilty of both counts. The penalty phase took place on July 29, 1991. The jury returned a death recommendation (R. 1499). On September 6, 1991, the court sentenced Mr. Mordenti to death (R. 1547).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Mordenti's convictions and sentences. <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). Subsequently, Mr. Mordenti filed for Rule 3.850 relief. The circuit court summarily denied. On appeal, this Court reversed and remanded. <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 30

to the State, Royston had been:

quite eager to give [the State] information about Gail Mordenti. He had no knowledge about Michael Mordenti, so he was not in a position to confirm or deny the allegations against him, other than to let the State know that Gail had set this up. She may have hired Michael Mordenti, she may have hired someone else, but he was not directly involved and it was not at his behest to contract this killing.

(PC-T. 333). Mr. Trevena also disclosed to the State that Royston was "scared of Gail Mordenti" (PC-T. 334). Royston had indicated to Mr. Trevena that "he did not know what was going on, and in the sense that her hiring of a hit man, would she then turn around and, because he wouldn't marry her, hire a hit man to kill him" (PC-T. 335).

Mr. Trevena did not disclose this information to Mr. Mordenti's trial counsel due to the privilege. Even at the 2001 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Trevena still asserted privilege when called to the stand by undersigned collateral counsel.

<sup>9</sup>In 2001, Mr. Atti testified that he was convinced of Mr. Mordenti's innocence, "[e]very piece of this evidence that I looked at, every witness that I talked to, every avenue that I took indicated Mr. Mordenti was not guilty of the crime" (PC-T. 508). (Fla. 1998).

Mr. Mordenti amended his Rule 3.850 motion on June 30, 2000 (PC-R. 488). The State filed its Response on August 28, 2000 (PC-R. 687-1044). On October 19, 2000, the lower court held oral argument pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993). On December 8, 2000 the lower court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing claims I (ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase), III (violation of due process under <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u>); XIII (penalty phase <u>Brady</u> and <u>Gigilo</u> violations and/or ineffective assistance of counsel); and XXXI (cumulative error). The lower court summarily denied the remaining claims (PC-R. 1182).<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>These claims are: II (newly discovered evidence of unconstitutionality); IV (unconstitutional admission of hearsay); V (record omissions resulted in an unreliable transcript); VI unconstitutionally gruesome and shocking photographs); VIII (ineffective assistance as to State v. <u>Neil</u>, <u>State v. Slappy</u>, and <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>); IX (violation of right to silence); X (erroneous instruction on standard to judge expert testimony); XII, (misleading testimony and improper prosecutorial argument); XIV,(improper prosecutorial argument at penalty phase); XV (failure to weigh mitigation in the record); XVI (non-statutory aggravating factors considered); XVII(failure to present <u>Skipper</u> evidence rendered sentencing determination unreliable); XVIII (unconstitutional consideration of CCP aggravating factor); XIX (fundamental error as to HAC aggravator); XX (sentencing jury misled regarding sentencing responsibility); XXI (improper shifting of burden to prove life appropriate sentence); XXII (Florida's aggravating factors are unconstitutionally vague and over broad); XXIII (innocence of the death penalty); XXIV (prosecutor impermissibly argued death was required); XXV (prohibition against juror interviews); XXVI (juror misconduct); XXVII (Florida's sentencing statute is XXVIII (incomplete 3.851 motion filed due unconstitutional); time limitation, workloads); XXIX (access to files and records denied); XXX (Fla. R. 3.851 is unconstitutional).

On August 21, 2001, Mr. Mordenti filed another amendment to his pending Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 1238-1241). Mr. Mordenti amended claims I, II, III, and XII with evidence from the FBI that undermined the trial testimony of FBI agent Michael Malone. Mr. Mordenti also added claim XXXII alleging that the Florida criminal justice system is unable to reliably resolve cases that require an accurate credibility determination. On August 28, 2001, the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing as to the amendment of claims I and III and denied as it related to claims II, XII and XXXII (PC-R. 1250-1254).

The evidentiary hearing commenced on September 10, 2001.<sup>11</sup> Mr. Mordenti had presented the testimony of eight witnesses (PC-R. 1273)and introduced approximately 36 exhibits (PC-R. 1273-1275) when the State filed on September 20, 2001, its "Notice of Additional Information" that disclosed that a former member of Mr. Mordenti's trial defense team, Paula Montlary, was employed by the Attorney General in the Capital Appeals Bureau (PC-R. 1276-1277). Over objection, the State called Ms. Montlary as a witness after the evidentiary hearing resumed in November.

The evidentiary hearing resumed for three days on November 5<sup>th</sup>. When Mr. Mordenti called Mr. Trevena as a witness, the State objected to "Mr. Trevena discussing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The proceedings were stopped and continued due to the September 11 terrorist attacks.

substance of conversations that occurred regarding his representation of Mr. Royston" (PC-T. 322). The State asserted that the evidence was inadmissible hearsay. The judge sustained the objection, but permitted Mr. Mordenti to proffer the evidence (PC-T. 326-27).

The evidence was finally closed on November 27, 2001. Written closing arguments were filed. On April 23, 2002, the lower court entered its order denying Mr. Mordenti relief (PC-R. 1384-1425). Mr. Mordenti timely filed his Notice of Appeal on May 9, 2002 (PC-R. 1426).

## B. Statement of the Facts.

### 1. According to trial evidence.

The centerpiece of the State's case was the <u>immunized</u> testimony of Gail Mordenti Milligan - Michael Mordenti's exwife. According to Gail's trial testimony, when she was picked up by Detective Baker and Detective Kroll on March 8, 1990, "they said they had the power - - that they could grant me immunity if I would tell them everything that I knew, and I said that if they could do that, then I would tell them everything that I knew about it, and they said fine. And then nothing else was said until we got here" (R. 701). Gail was asked by trial counsel "if I understand it, that they approached you regarding the issue of immunity, and you did not approach them asking for immunity." (R. 701). Gail

8

responded, "that's correct" (R. 701).<sup>12</sup>

Gail testified at trial that Larry Royston asked her to find someone to murder his wife, Thelma Royston.<sup>13</sup> Gail testified Larry Royston came to her house for lunch "it was either late February, or the beginning of March [of 1989]." (R. 609). At that luncheon, Larry Royston asked Gail if she knew anyone who could kill his wife (R. 611).<sup>14</sup> After she was unable to recruit three other individuals, she turned to her exhusband, Michael Mordenti within a couple of weeks of the luncheon (R. 672-73).<sup>15</sup> According to Gail's trial testimony, Mr. Mordenti wanted to scope out the Royston place in the daytime (R. 617). Gail testified that later Mr. Mordenti wanted to take a second drive out to the Royston's place, this time at

<sup>13</sup>Gail acknowledged in 2001 that Larry Royston "had money" and had once said flippantly that "it's too bad I couldn't be interested in him" (PC-T. 998).

<sup>14</sup>In 2001, Gail testified that Larry "seemed like a nice person" (PC-T. 1081). She "didn't know Thelma. All I knew was what Larry told me, and I thought she was just a really horrible person. I didn't know and it was very bad judgment. I know it was bad judgment, and I know it was wrong" (PC-T. 1082).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Contrary to Gail's trial testimony, Lee Atkinson, the prosecutor who obtained a sworn statement from Gail on March 8, 1990, testified that he did not bestow total immunity upon Gail. He testified that all Gail received was the standard use immunity which accompanies any testimony given pursuant to a subpoena (PC-T. 255-57).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>She stated that one of the individuals she tried to recruit was former business partner John Robin "Jack" Gartley (R. 673). Mr. Gartley did not testify at Mr. Mordenti's trial, but was called at the 2001 hearing and denied Gail's claim. Gail also claimed to have contacted "Jerry Carter" and "Bill - - and it's Rosenthal or Rosenfield" (R. 674-75).

night. According to Gail's trial testimony, Mr. Mordenti went to Gail's house in the middle of the night (R. 620). Gail and Mr. Mordenti then went and checked into a motel near the Royston place.<sup>16</sup> This was maybe a month after the first trip, but definitely before Milligan moved in with Gail (R. 682). Gail testified that Michael Milligan moved in to her house "either the end of March or beginning of April" (R. 677).<sup>17</sup>

At trial, Gail testified that Michael Mordenti had given her a loaded gun. "Michael gave it back to me after the murder, and I had it at the house" (R. 662). Gail gave the gun and the accompanying bullets to the police in March of

<sup>16</sup>In March or April of 1990 shortly after Gail gave her immunized statement, Det. King went to the motel that Gail had identified to law enforcement, but was unable to find any registration under Michael Mordenti's name (PC-T. 794, 799). Yet, Mr. Mordenti's trial attorneys complained that they were never timely given the name of this hotel and believed that a <u>Richardson</u> violation occurred. Richard Watts even wrote a memo to the filed documenting that "[t]he name of the motel wasn't disclosed to us. We couldn't go and look." (PC-T. 901; D-Ex. 68).

<sup>17</sup>Gail's trial testimony wove a tight time line. All of the planning and contact with Mr. Mordenti that she claimed occurred, she pegged as happening before Michael Milligan moved into her home as her boyfriend at "the end of March or beginning of April" (R. 677). However, her daily calendar that was in the State's possession and was not disclosed to the defense revealed that the luncheon discussion with Larry Royston about the murder of his wife occurred on April 11, 1989 (PC-T. 1004-05).

If the luncheon happened on April 11<sup>th</sup>, Michael Milligan had already moved in with her and as Gail herself testified, Michael Mordenti did not go into her house in the middle of the night to rouse her to go to the Royston place when Milligan was with Gail.

Interestingly, Milligan's description matches that of one of the men seen near the Royston place on the night of the murder shortly before the murder (PC-T. 797, 1088). 1990, and evidence was introduced at trial regarding the FBI's metallurgical examination of the bullets.<sup>18</sup> On crossexamination, Gail testified that Mr. Mordenti gave her the gun and bullets while she worked at Carlisle, which was "from October of '89 until April of '90, and it had to have been during that time" (R. 685). "[I]t was after I was working at Carlisle Hyundai, and that was after Ms. Royston's death" (R. 685).

Previously in her March 8, 1990, sworn statement, Gail indicated that she received the gun "January, February, March [] 89." Gail had explained on March 8, 1990, "yeah, it was kind of a long time ago" (D-Ex. 37 at 19).<sup>19</sup> Thus, this sworn testimony placed the receipt of the gun before Thelma Royston's death. When asked at trial in cross-examination about this prior inconsistent testimony, Gail testified "I don't remember making [that statement], no. I can read it, but I don't remember making it." (R. 689). Thus, the State successfully precluded the introduction of the prior sworn statement directly contrary to her trial testimony. In fact during closing, ASA Karen Cox successfully argued to the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The FBI's bullet lead compositional analysis concluded that the bullets at the crime scene matched the bullets that were with the gun.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Gail was picked up on March 8, 1990, pursuant to a state attorney subpoena (PC-T. 787). She had previously been questioned by the police on July 12, 1989, regarding the homicide. At that time, she had indicated "she thought about dating Larry, due to the fact he has a lot of money, but the situation never came up" (PC-T. 776).

judge that defense counsel could not mention that the prior inconsistent sworn testimony existed (R. 1224-34).<sup>20</sup>

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