IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL MORDENTI,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1159

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

18). **Failure to Seek Continuance** - As noted by the trial court, lead counsel felt prepared and there was testimony that defendant did not want a continuance (R10, 1394).

To the extent that appellant urges that trial counsel was inexperienced in capital litigation, that too is insufficient for the granting of relief. <u>See U.S. ex rel. Williams v.</u> <u>Twomey</u>, 510 F.2d 634, 639 (7th Cir. 1975)("Necessarily, every lawyer must begin his career without experience. Portia without experience was a remarkably successful representative of Antonio.").

19). <u>Cumulative Consideration</u> - The lower court correctly determined that since there were no individual errors, the cumulative error claim must fail. <u>See Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n. 5 (Fla. 1999); <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000) (R10, 1423).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF A FORMER EMPLOYEE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY WATTS.

The standard of review in considering the trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence and testimony is abuse of discretion. <u>Ray v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1029 (Fla. 1981).

During the evidentiary hearing appellant objected to the state calling as a witness trial counsel Richard Watts' former paralegal Paula Montlary, who is currently employed in the Attorney General's capital litigation division. Appellant acknowledged having had the opportunity to depose her. (R17, 731-732).

Ms. Montlary testified that when she had interviewed she had mentioned the potential conflict regarding the Mordenti case and thereafter she had no involvement in the case as an employee of the Attorney General's Office. Subsequently, after the September 11th incident, she was contacted by CCRC and the State Attorney's Office (R17, 736-740). She was deposed on October 1, 2001 (R17, 761).

Whatever attorney-client privilege may have been applicable previously, Mordenti's allegations of ineffective assistance of

counsel in his post-conviction motion ended it and Montlary could testify just as Watts did. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Turner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987) (attorney-client privilege on communications waived); <u>Reed v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 1994) (conversations between defendant and lawyer are not protected by the attorney-client privilege and the waiver extends to the attorney's files; waiver must necessarily include information relating to strategy ordinarily protected under the work product doctrine); <u>LeCroy v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1994); <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 909, 917 (Fla. 2000) (defendant waived his attorney-client privilege when he filed his motion claiming that counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to adequately investigate and prepare for trial); <u>Trepal v. State</u>, 754 So. 2d 702, 708 (Fla. 2000). Appellant's claim is meritless.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

As stated previously in Issue II, *supra*, the standard of review on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is that the appellate court gives deference to the trial court factual

findings but reviews the ultimate conclusions on deficiency and prejudice de novo. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); <u>Bruno v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001).

Appellant was given an evidentiary hearing on his claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance at the penalty phase. The lower court denied relief as explained in Claim XIII below (R10, 1419-1422)²⁷. In pertinent part the lower court's order recites:

Mr. Watts testified at the evidentiary hearing held on November 27, 2001, that in preparing for the penalty phase he had extensive contact with Defendant, as he was out on bond during his trial. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 100, attached). Watts also testified that usually the best person to give information on a defendant is the defendant himself, if such defendant is of sound mind, and Mordenti fit into that category of people. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 101, attached).

Watts also testified he was actively seeking witnesses for Phase II, the penalty phase. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, pp. 101-102, attached). As to the allegation that Watts failed to call Mordenti's own daughter, he cannot recall that Defendant even mentioned that he had two daughters. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 100, attached). If Defendant would have indicated to Watts that he wanted his daughter there, Watts testified that he would have located her and brought her there. (See Id.).

Watts also testified that his assistant, Paula Montlary, made the initial call on the witnesses, and once the initial communication was established, Watts attempted to meet the witnesses face-to-face. (See,

²⁷ The direct appeal record reflects that at penalty phase the defense called some fifteen witnesses and appellant testified on his own behalf (DAR TR 1375-1432).

Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 103, attached). Watts recalled, however, that there were a couple of witnesses he could not meet face-to-face as they were out of town witnesses. (See Id.). Instead, he spoke on the telephone with them, and then met them the day of their anticipated testimony during the penalty Peter Morris, a friend of phase. (<u>See</u><u>Id</u>.). Defendant, was subpoenaed to testify at the penalty phase; however, Watts testified, although he cannot specifically remember, that it was а conscious decision not to call him to the stand. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, pp. 103 - 104, attached).

When specifically asked why he did not request a jury instruction on Defendant's lack of significant criminal history, Watts testified that it was conscious decision. (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 105, attached). Watts explained that Defendant had a history of uncharged bad acts that the judge was going to allow in as rebuttal to the mitigating evidence. (<u>See</u> Transcript from November 27, 2001, pp. 105-106, attached). Watts felt that the jury understood Defendant was crime free up to the point of trial anyway, and that the lack of a criminal background is not a heavy mitigator. (See Id.).

Watts testified that he presented extensive background in regard to Mordenti's family life and presented nonstatutory and statutory mitigators. (<u>See</u> Transcript from November 27, 2001, pp. 108-109, attached).

* * *

In sum, the Court finds that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present adequate mitigating evidence and testimony at the penalty phase of In his own words, Watts said: "I Defendant's trial. believed that I knew Mr. Mordenti's background and felt like we made a more than adequate presentation of it." (See Transcript from November 27, 2001, p. 104, attached). Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court found that even though Defendant argued, on direct appeal, that he presented "heavy mitigation," the mitigating factors did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. Mordenti, 630 at 1085. Based upon the foregoing, Defendant is not entitled to relief upon this claim. (R10, 1422)

Appellant makes no effort to challenge the lower court's determination. Instead he briefly asserts merely that counsel was deficient in not calling Dr. Fireman apparently to report that Mordenti maintained his innocence. Dr. Fireman was not called to testify at the evidentiary hearing. Appellant also criticizes counsel for not calling Agent Carmody to testify of appellant's assistance in apprehending Mr. Barnes. Appellee notes that in the Amended Motion to Vacate no challenge was made to counsel's failure at penalty phase to use Dr. Fireman or Agent Carmody. (Claim XIII at R5, 590-599).

At the evidentiary hearing Mordenti called Richard Watts, the penalty phase trial defense counsel. Watts testified that he had contacted a mental health expert Dr. Alfred Fireman but Fireman offered no mental health mitigation; he found him welladjusted, hard working. He was unable to find a mitigator because he couldn't find evidence that he had done the homicide (R18, 934-935). Watts looked for mental health mitigation through the use of Dr. Fireman - and didn't expect to find any (R19, 965), Watts put on evidence of both statutory and nonstatutory mitigation (R19, 969).

Appellant has failed to establish either deficiency by counsel at the penalty phase or secondly that any deficiency

resulted in prejudice, i.e. a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984).

This claim is meritless; the lower court's order denying relief should be affirmed.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING SOME OF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS.

Appellant next asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying relief on Claim IV - Admission of Hearsay Evidence; Claim VII - Counsel's Failure to Effectively Conduct Voir Dire; Claim XI - Admission of Statements of Co-conspirator; Claim VIII - Counsel's Failure to Properly Assert <u>Batson</u> and <u>Neil</u>; Claim XVII - Failure to Present <u>Skipper</u> Evidence.

As to Claim IV in the lower court, the court correctly held that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used to circumvent the requirement that such issues are procedurally barred for the failure to raise on direct appeal. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995); <u>Medina v.</u> <u>State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 616, 620 (Fla. 2000). The lower court also correctly ruled that appellant's claim failed to allege and demonstrate prejudice (R9, 1187-89). Obviously, the <u>substantive</u> hearsay claim is barred since it could have been urged on direct appeal.

As to Claim VII below, the lower court correctly denied relief summarily as procedurally barred as it was a question to be asserted on direct appeal and additionally the allegations were conclusory in nature (R9, 1192-94). Appellee additionally notes that on direct appeal (Issue II) Mordenti raised the issue of whether the trial court had erred in failing to replace juror Haight; consequently, it is inappropriate collaterally to raise a variant of an issue previously considered and rejected. <u>See</u> <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

Finally, appellee submits that the claim below was spurious since Mordenti claimed that he could not further plead the allegation because of insufficient public records responses by agencies (R5, 577); obviously, the appellate record alone is all that is needed to determine voir dire inquiry. Alternatively, appellee adds that the appellate record demonstrates jurors Haight and Baker each had an open mind (DAR, TR 175, 195)

As to Claim XI, the lower court correctly determined that the issue of admissibility of evidence was a question for direct appeal and thus procedurally barred collaterally, that postconviction proceedings do not constitute a second appeal and the

circumvented by claims of bar mav not be counsel ineffectiveness. See Cherry, supra. Further, appellant did not satisfy the prejudice prong (R9, 1197-98). Even now, appellant does not submit an argument but merely impermissibly cites the See Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. issue below. 1990) ("Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n 6 (Fla. 1999); Sweet v. State, 810 So. 2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002); State v. Mitchell, 719 So. 2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

The lower court correctly denied relief summarily on Claim VIII (R9, 1194-95). The record demonstrates that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for having withdrawn a request for the prosecutor to state a racially neutral reason for a peremptory exercise on juror Ruby Cutler (DAR, TR 237-238) when a few pages earlier Cutler (Juror #13) acknowledged she would have a problem living with herself if she participated in a decision to send a person to his death (DAR, TR, 221).

As to Claim XVII, the lower court correctly denied relief summarily, noting that the trial court had instructed the jury on good moral character as a mitigating factor and had considered appellant's appropriate behavior during the trial

(R9, 1203). <u>See Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1080, 1083 (Fla. 1994) (The trial court "found the following factors in mitigation....(8) that appellant behaved appropriately in court during the trial"). Obviously, the substantive claim is procedurally barred as an issue for direct appeal or as a variant of an issue raised on appeal.

Since all of Mordenti's claims are procedurally barred or meritless, no relief can be granted whether the alleged errors are considered singularly or cumulatively.

<u>ISSUE VI</u>

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE CLAIM OF NEWLY-DISCOVERED EVIDENCE AND IN ADDRESSING CERTAIN EVIDENCE AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Appellant's final claim is that the lower court did not assess:

- 1. Evidence of Horace Barnes' false trial testimony;
- Agent Malone's false or misleading testimony regarding hair evidence; and
- Jack Riley's testimony regarding metallurgy and the bullets.

To set aside a conviction or sentence because of newlydiscovered evidence, a defendant must show (1) the asserted facts must have been unknown by the trial court, the party or trial counsel at the time of trial and defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of due diligence; and (2) the newly-discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial or result in a life sentence rather than a death penalty. <u>See Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1998). Appellant has failed to demonstrate a basis for relief.

Appellee initially notes that Mordenti's failure to fully brief this point constitutes a bar and waiver. <u>See Duest</u>, supra; <u>Shere</u>, supra; <u>Sweet</u>, supra.

(1) The Horace Barnes Testimony -

The lower court did address Horace Barnes both under Claim I (ineffective assistance of counsel) and Claim III (<u>Brady</u> claim) in the Order Denying Relief. The court rejected the ineffective counsel claim pertaining to the alleged association with the mob by noting that this Court on direct appeal had found the error to be harmless (R10, 1403). Similarly, under a <u>Brady</u> theory that the state had failed to provide undisclosed benefits, it was unnecessary to further address the claim since this Court's determination that Barnes' testimony was inconsequential, would not have changed the outcome of the proceeding and otherwise constituted harmless error. <u>Mordenti</u>,

630 So. 2d at 1085 (R10, 1415)²⁸

(2) Agent Malone's Testimony Regarding Hair Evidence -

Prior to the evidentiary hearing the lower court entered an order on appellant's Second Amended Motion permitting appellant to present at the evidentiary hearing a newly discovered evidence claim as it related to Malone's examination of the evidence and testimony (R9, 1251). At trial, Malone had given testimony favorable to the defendant:

I compared all the hairs from the victim, Thelma Royston, and her immediate environment to the known hair samples of Mr. Mordenti. None of the hairs on Thelma Royston or her immediate environment matched the hairs of Mr. Mordenti.No. It means I didn't find any hairs like his on her. But no, I could not say he was there or wasn't there. (DAR, 724)

Even the defense witness at the evidentiary hearing below Steve Robertson acknowledged that his testimony was favorable (R12, 148). Robertson further admitted that Malone's finding that the

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